OA 12.8.88

My of

	IN THE SUPREME	COURT OF FLORIDAL SID J. WHITE
		OCT 3 1988
TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE	COMPANY,	OLERK, SUPREME COUNT
Petitioner,		By Deputy Dark
vs.) Case No. 72,531
BARNETT BANK OF MARION	COUNTY, N.A.,	District Court of Appeal,Fifth District Case No. 86-1328
Respondent.		

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

ROBERT E. MORRIS, ESQUIRE Morris & Rosen, P.A. 4016 Henderson Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33629 (813) 289-4009 Attorneys for Petitioner

ISSUES ON APPEAL

ISSUE I

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For purposes of clarity and reference, as used in this Initial Brief, the letter "R" refers to the Record on Appeal (page numbers) and the letter "T" refers to the Transcript (page numbers) of transcribed proceedings, as the same were filed with the Fifth District Court of Appeal. Additionally, reference to paragraphs and page numbers to items contained in Record on Appeal (R) is sometimes utilized for ease of reference.

The litigation in the Circuit Court was instituted by the Plaintiff and Respondent, BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A., due to the nonpayment of its obligors of a number of promissory notes. The Plaintiff and Respondent, BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A., in part, sought declaratory judgment against TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY, a Defendant and the Petitioner, that it had priority to unpaid contract funds based upon its perfected and recorded security agreements and financing statements. The Petitioner, TRANSAMERICA INSUR-ANCE COMPANY, filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses on or about December 17, 1984, and subsequently filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the First Amended Complaint, with the same located at R 125-150 and R 1251-1279. Due to the fact that the Plaintiff's Complaint, the Corrected Complaint and the First Amended Complaint contain minor deviations, pursuant to agreement and stipulation of counsel for BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A., Steven H. Gray, Esquire, it was agreed that the initial Answer and Affirmative Defense of TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY would serve as appropriate pleadings with regard to the partial summary judgment issue.

On or about October 8, 1985, BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A. filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of priority to unpaid contract funds; and the said Motion is contained at R 1559-1726. On or about

February 20, 1986, TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment with regard to the prior right and claim of TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY, as performing surety, to earned but unpaid contract funds, to the extent of performance; and the same is contained in R 1316-1319. Partial Summary Judgment was entered in favor of BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A. (R 1336-1351); and the Trial Court entered its Order Denying Transamerica's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (R 1542-1543).

TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY timely filed its Notice of Appeal and Amended and Supplemental Notice of Appeal (R 1544-1546 and R 1547-1549). On March 24, 1988, the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal filed its majority decision with written dissent; and Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Clarification were subsequently filed. The Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Clarification were denied by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on May 6, 1988.

TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction; and by Order entered September 6, 1988, the Florida Supreme Court accepted jurisdiction and discretionary review.

G. P. Turner Construction, Inc. was a contractor engaged in the construction business. In 1979, G. P. Turner Construction, Inc. and others entered into an Agreement of Indemnity instrument with TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY. Thereafter, TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY provided payment bonds, payment and performance bonds, contract bonds, subcontract bonds, and related bonds on behalf of G. P. Turner Construction, Inc., wherein G. P. Turner Construction, Inc. was the contractor and principal and TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY was Surety. (R 1336-1351). BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A. loaned funds to G. P. Turner Construction, Inc. on numerous occasions (R 1-120; R 217-338; and

R 423-543). BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A. perfected, under the Uniform Commercial Code, its security interests in inventory, accounts receivable, contract rights, general intangibles, and chattel paper prior to any filing or recording of any Financing Statement by TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY. (R 1337).

At issue before the Circuit Court and the Fifth District Court of Appeal was the priority positions of BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A. (which had filed and perfected its financing statements) vis-a-vis the priority position of TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY (as surety) under the doctrine of equitable subrogation, as a performing surety, since it had not earlier filed and recorded its financing statement (Agreement of Indemnity). (R 1559-1726 and R 1336-1351). The Affidavits and Depositions filed clearly reflect that the contractor and principal, G. P. Turner Construction, Inc., was not timely paying its bills as they became due. (R 705-713; R 714-761; R 762-818; R 819-899; R 900-936; R 955-1011; R 1012-1048; and R 1154-1203).

It is undisputed that BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A. perfected its "security interest" prior to the time that TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY filed and recorded its Agreement of Indemnity. (R 1559-1726 and R 1336-1351). The Trial Court and the Fifth District Court of Appeal have effectively ruled that TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY's prior claim and right under the well-established doctrine of equitable subrogation is governed by and controlled by the perfection and recording requirements of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes). [R 1336-1351; R 1357-1358; R 1542-1543; Transamerica Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A., 524 So.2d 439 (Fla. App. 5th DCA 1988)].

The Petitioner, TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY, takes issue with the entry

of the Partial Summary Judgment in Favor of Plaintiff, Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A. (R 1336-1351), the Order Denying Motion for Rehearing/Reconsideration (R 1357-1358), the Order Denying Transamerica's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (R 1542-1543), and the majority decision (with written dissent) of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

The issues on appeal to the Supreme Court are as follows:

ISSUE I

WHETHER A SURETY'S PRIORITY AND CLAIM TO "EARNED BUT UNPAID" REMAINING CONTRACT FUNDS IN THE HANDS OF AN OWNER/BOND OBLIGEE, UNDER THE WELL-ESTABLISHED DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE SUBROGATION, IS GOVERNED BY THE FILING/PERFECTION REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE 9 OF THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE (CHAPTER 679, FLORIDA STATUTES).

ISSUE II

WHETHER A PERFORMING SURETY'S PRIORITY CLAIM AND RIGHT TO "EARNED BUT UNPAID" REMAINING CONTRACT FUNDS IN THE HANDS OF AN OWNER/BOND OBLIGEE IS A "SECURITY INTEREST" SUBJECT TO THE FILING OR PERFECTION REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE 9 OF THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE (CHAPTER 679, FLORIDA STATUTES).

ISSUE III

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT MAY PROPERLY DENY A PARTY THE RIGHT AND OPPORTUNITY TO CLAIM SET-OFF AND WHETHER A TRIAL COURT MAY PROPERLY ENTER A PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON AN ISSUE WHICH IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT MAY MAKE FINDINGS OF FACT IN A PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHICH ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND RECORD.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Upon default by the contractor/principal, a performing surety's priority and right to "earned but unpaid" remaining contract funds (including "retainage") in the hands of an owner/bond obligee, under the well-established doctrine of equitable subrogation, is not governed by or subject to the filing or perfection requirements of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes). The enactment of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes) did not abrogate or displace the doctrine of equitable subrogation, which principle has been in effect and understood since the 1800's. Principles of law and equity supplement the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code; and one of such principles is the doctrine of equitable subrogation.

Due to the fact that a surety "stands in the shoes" of the owner/bond obligee and laborers and materialmen who provide improvements to real property, to the extent of performance, such surety is entitled to a priority right and claim to remaining contract funds (including retainage) which have not been paid by the owner/bond obligee to the defaulting contractor/principal.

Numerous authorities and jurisdictions have specifically held that a surety has prior right to such "earned but unpaid" contract funds. Decisions on this specific issue have been rendered by the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court, numerous courts within the State of Florida and numerous other courts and jurisdictions. Additionally, established case law likewise holds that a surety's prior right and claim to earned but unpaid contract funds under the doctrine of equitable subrogation has not been displaced or abrogated by the enactment of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial

Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes). Almost every court in the nation which has considered such issue has so held.

Upon default of the contractor/principal, a surety has first and prior right and lien on remaining unpaid contract funds, to the extent of the performance of its bond obligations and to the extent needed to complete the contract, under the doctrine of equitable subrogation. Such rights of a surety need not be "perfected" under Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes) because Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code is not applicable to such suretyship matters; and the performing surety stands in the place of the owner/bond obligee and proper bond claimants (subcontractors, materialmen, suppliers, etc.).

ISSUE II

The priority claim and right of a performing surety to "earned but unpaid" remaining contract funds (including "retainage") in the hands of an owner/bond obligee does not fall within the definition of a "security interest" subject to the filing or perfection requirements of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes). Security interests under Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes) are consensual in nature. A performing surety's prior right and claim to earned but unpaid contract funds, under the doctrine of equitable subrogation, arises by operation of law and not by contract or agreement between the parties. The Uniform Commercial Code protects only "contract rights" and not those that arise by operation of law.

A suretyship undertaking is not a true financing arrangement or security interest as those conceptual phrases are commonly understood. Upon default of the contractor/principal, a performing surety occupies three (3) positions.

The surety stands in the shoes of the contractor insofar as there are receivables due to it; the surety stands in the shoes of laborers and materialmen who are paid; and the surety stands in the shoes of the owner/bond obligee, for whom the project was completed. When a performing surety assumes the position of the property owner (bond obligee) or the laborers and materialmen who have performed improvements to the real property, the position of such surety is not transposed into a "security interest".

The established and previously understood doctrine of equitable subrogation which provides a performing surety with a prior right and claim to unpaid contract funds should not be effectively abolished by mislabeling the rights of such performing surety as being a "security interest". The Florida Supreme Court should specifically rule and hold that a performing surety's rights under equitable subrogation do not constitute a "security interest" or a "contract right" under the Uniform Commercial Code, as the same arise by operation of law.

ISSUE III

A Trial Court may not properly deny a party the right and opportunity to claim set-off and may not properly enter partial summary judgment on an issue which is not before the Trial Court. A party's right to "set-off" is well established under Florida law. Specific provision for the same is set forth in Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.170.

The Trial Court in this litigation entered a Partial Summary Judgment which goes <u>beyond</u> the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and purports to apply its holdings relating to accounts receivable and contract rights on a job-by-job basis. The Fifth District Court of Appeal did not effectively rule on this issue. Such decision effectively prohibits TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE

COMPANY and the owners/bond obligees from presenting to the Court the applicable law and facts concerning the right of set-off and the amounts relating to the same.

The Trial Court's expansive language in the Partial Summary Judgment in Favor of Plaintiff, Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A. goes beyond the legal issues raised in the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment of Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A.; and a summary judgment based on matters entirely outside the issues should not stand. Therefore, such ruling and finding of the Trial Court should be reversed and remanded.

ISSUE IV

A Trial Court may not make findings of fact in a partial summary judgment which are not supported by the evidence and the record. In rendering a summary judgment, no factual determinations should be made by the Trial Judge. Additionally, it is improper for a Trial Judge to make factual determinations in a summary judgment proceeding when there is no basis for such findings or when the facts are disputed.

Due to the foregoing, the "finding" in the statement of the Trial Court that "actual cash" was utilized by G. P. Turner Construction, Inc. "in the normal course of its business operations" should be stricken and set aside; and the failure of the intermediate appellate court to substantially address this issue should be addressed, with specific definitive opinion.

ISSUE I

WHETHER A SURETY'S PRIORITY AND CLAIM TO "EARNED BUT UNPAID" REMAINING CONTRACT FUNDS IN THE HANDS OF AN OWNER/BOND OBLIGEE, UNDER THE WELL-ESTABLISHED DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE SUBROGATION, IS GOVERNED BY THE FILING/PERFECTION REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE 9 OF THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE (CHAPTER 679, FLORIDA STATUTES).

The Trial Court and the majority opinion of the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal effectively ruled and held that a Surety's priority and claim to "earned but unpaid" remaining contract funds in the hands of an owner/bond obligee, under the well-established doctrine of equitable subrogation, is governed by the filing/perfection requirements of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code (Chapter 679, Florida Statutes). In Paragraph 3 (Page 8) of the said Partial Summary Judgment, the Trial Court stated that "Based upon its prior compliance with the Florida Uniform Commercial Code, BARNETT has a superior claim to all accounts receivable and contract rights of TURNER which were earned or vested, but unpaid, as of the moment of the default by TURNER under any job or contract. The right of BARNETT to such accounts receivable or contract rights, up to the point in time set forth previously, is superior to any claim or interest held by TRANSAMERICA under a claim of equitable subrogation." (R 1343).

On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated: "We hold that the surety's assignment from a contractor, although conditional or contingent upon the surety's liability following the contractor's default, constitutes a security interest subject to the filing and perfection requirements of U.C.C."

Transamerica Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A., supra, at Page 444. The majority opinion in Transamerica Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A., supra, initially recognizes the principle, concept and remedy known as "equitable subrogation". However, the majority

opinion, in a radical departure from virtually every judicial decision in the nation, states that a performing surety's priority right under equitable sub-rogation "just does not seem to describe the situation of the modern day payment or performance bond surety . . ." Transamerica Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A., supra, at Page 445.

TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY also had filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment that a performing surety is entitled to priority to and claim to "earned but unpaid" remaining contract funds in the hands of an owner/bond obligee, under the well-established doctrine of equitable subrogation, to the extent of payment and performance by such surety. (R 1316-1319). The Trial Court entered an Order denying TRANSAMERICA'S Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (R 1542-1543); and the Fifth District court of Appeal affirmed the Trial Court's ruling in Transamerica Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A., supra. The rulings and findings of the Trial Court and the majority decision of the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal concerning this issue are erroneous and contrary to virtually every case in the nation.

At the outset, it is important to understand the basis and apparent rationale of the Trial Court's decision and determination and the apparent bases for the majority decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal which is now on appeal to this Court. The Trial Court apparently relied upon the Fifth District Court of Appeal case of Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co., 387 So.2d 470 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). In Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co., supra, the Court held that the lending bank (Barnett Bank) had priority over the Surety (Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland) to contract funds. Both the Trial Court and the Respondent, BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A., rely upon the language contained in Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co., supra,

which states that a surety's "right to subrogation is a contract right controlled by the U.C.C." <u>Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co.</u>, supra, at Page 472. (R 1336-1351 and R 1559-1563). In <u>Transamerica Insurance Company v. Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A.</u>, supra, the majority opinion states that its holding "is consistent with, and parallel to, <u>Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co.</u>" At Page 446.

Two (2) factors must be noted with regard to the statement by the Fifth District Court of Appeal that a surety's "right to subrogation is a contract right controlled by the U.C.C." First, such statement by the Fifth District Court of Appeal was not supported by any citations of any authority which so holds; and the Appellate Court cited one (1) case for the exact opposite of the ruling and holding of the cited authority. Second, the statement by the Appellate Court was "dicta".

In support of its statement that a surety's "right to subrogation is a contract right controlled by the U.C.C.", the Appellate Court cited <u>First Alabama Bank of Birmingham v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, Inc.</u>, 430 F.Supp. 907 (N.D. Ala. 1977). The case cited by the Fifth District Court of Appeal specifically holds the <u>exact opposite</u> of the legal principle for which it is cited. In <u>First Alabama Bank of Birmingham v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, Inc.</u>, supra, the Federal Court specifically stated:

The Uniform Commercial Code protects only "contract rights", not those that arise by operation of law, and every court which has considered the matter has held that a <u>surety's equitable subrogation rights</u>, upon default of its principal-contractor, <u>arise by operation of law</u>, not contract, and that therefore a <u>surety is not required to file financing statements under the Uniform Commercial Code to preserve its rights to equitable subrogation in the event of its principal's default . . . (Citations Omitted) . . . Therefore, the Court rejects the Bank's first contention and holds that the Surety's failure to record its indemnity agreement does not defeat its equitable right to subrogation with respect to contract funds earned prior to its principal's default. (At Page 910). (Emphasis Added).</u>

An additional factor which must be kept in mind when evaluating the statement of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co.</u>, supra, is that the referenced statement is pure dicta. In <u>Waterhouse v. McDevitt and Street Co.</u>, supra, the Appellate Court even recognized the existence of the well-established doctrine of equitable subrogation. In its opinion, the Court stated:

We question whether the doctrine of equitable subrogation ever came into play. This case does not involve the surety's obligation to perform upon default of its principal and its concomitant right to subrogation. Rather, the right to reimbursement was based solely on Fidelity's contract agreement with Martin . . . No equitable subrogation was involved because the principal was not in default. The only claim which Fidelity had was its right by contract to reimbursement for payment made in a good faith belief that they were necessary or expedient. 387 So.2d at 472.

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