IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DUGT B Deputy Clerk

TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

BARNETT BANK OF MARION COUNTY, N.A.

Respondent

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 72,531

FIFTH DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 86-1328

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Tim D. Haines Green and Simmons, P.A. Post Office Box 3310 Ocala, FL 32678 (904)732-8121 Attorneys for Respondent

CITATION OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Case Authority</u>

Case	Page	e <u>(s)</u>	
<u>Acton, II v. Ft. Lauderdale Hospital</u> , 418 So. 2d 1099, (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)	46		
<u>Carter v. Schlager</u> , 358 Mass. 789, 267 N.E. 2d 492 (Mass. 1971)	27

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

Even if the surety had a right to apply the proceeds of one contract to a deficit arising under another, this right could only arise out of its contractual rights set forth in the bonding agreement. Even cases upholding the suretys' equitable lien have acknowledged that the surety goes to far in attempting to extend that lien beyond the immediate contract. <u>See Travelers Indemnity</u> <u>Co. v. Clark</u>, 254 So.2d 741, 747 (Miss. 1971); <u>Transamerica Ins.</u> <u>v. Barnett</u>, 524 So.2d at 450 (Sharpe, J., dissenting). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that:

> assignment contained in the bond [T]he application may not be used to create a security interest in the proceeds of an independent entirely and different construction contract unless there is compliance with provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code. When the surety seeks to use the assignment on the bond application to reach beyond the immediate contract so as to claim a security interest in another contract involving another owner, the assignment loses its identity as an aid to the equitable lien which a surety of a defaulting contractor The assignment thereupon becomes, to has. the extent that such non-indemnification is claimed thereunder, merely financing a transaction subject to the filing requirements of the Uniform Commercial Code.

Travelers Indemnity Co., 254 So.2d at 747.

ISSUE 3

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT

"BARNETT FINANCED THE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES DURING THE OF OF TURNER PERIOD ACTIVE OPERATION BY TURNER WITH ACTUAL CASH" AND "THAT ACTUAL CASH WAS USED BY TURNER IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF ITS BUSINESS OPERATION ... " CONSTITUTES AN IMPROPER FACTUAL DETER-MINATION.

A moving party is entitled to Summary Judgment "...if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact..." Fla. R. Civ. P. In paragraph 10, page 5, of the Partial Summary Judgment, 1.510. the Lower Court states that "Barnett financed the construction activities of Turner during the period of active operation by Turner with actual cash." The Court further states "that actual cash was used by Turner in the normal course of its business operation..." R1340. There is no genuine issue as to the veracity of these factual statements. This description of Barnett's financing relationship with Turner Construction is more than adequately supported by the record.

The deposition of Richard C. Andrews of Barnett Bank R762-818, of David S. Sutphin of Barnett Bank R819-899, and of John R. Brinson, Jr. R955-1011 provide adequate support for the language cited above. Each of the depositions, but particularly the first two, discusses the lending relationship between Barnett Bank of Marion County and Turner Construction. A reading of these depositions makes it abundantly clear that Turner Construction's loan arrangement with Barnett Bank was similar to a revolving line of credit. Turner Construction would pay down the loans as

accounts receivable came in and would, between such pay downs, increase the loan amounts as draws were made to cover normal operating expenses. Specific reference to this scenario appears in the deposition of John R. Brinson, Jr. which contains the following questions and responses:

- Q. Had you a history of drawing up and down loans with Barnett?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And were those loans drawn up and down on a frequent basis?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And I would be correct in stating that the loans tended to draw up when you were not getting receivables in from the State and were paid with some portion of your receivables?
- A. Certainly. R1004

In addition to the above-referenced material, the deposition of David Sutphin contains the following questions and responses

- Q. How did Turner pay its bills then if Barnett Bank paid down all receivables -- took all receivables of Turner?
- A. Mr. Morris, that's the nature of an operating line of credit. Their payable cycle and receivable cycle-they would simply collect money at one time, and then throughout the month they would advance on a line of credit to meet their payables. It minimizes the interest cost.
- Q. Okay.
- A. It was a very standard operating procedure for months and months with the company. R849

The attorney for Transamerica, in his questioning of Mr. Sutphin, himself expressed an understanding of this situation in the following dialogue:

- Q. If the receivables came into the control account and the bank refused to advance any more funds, it's certainly logical to conclude that the company would have no operating funds; is that not correct?
- A. That's the logical conclusion but one subject to a lot of -- there are so many circumstances. There's a lot of what goes into that assumption. R892

Finally, the Memorandum to the Executive Committee of Barnett, attached as Defendant's Exhibit No. 5 to the deposition of David S. Sutphin, clearly recognizes that the loans of Barnett Bank were to be used to "...keep payables current, meet payrolls and service debt... [and] to meet the cash requirements." R980

From the above citations, as well as a general reading of the depositions appearing in the record, there clearly exists adequate factual support for the Trial Court's statement that "Barnett financed the construction activities of Turner during the period of active operation by Turner with actual cash" and "that actual cash was used by Turner in the normal course of its business operation..." R1340 The extent to which all parties accepted this arrangement as a factual basis for the Motion for said Summary Judgment is indicated by the transcript of R1067-1129 At no time during the hearing on proceedings. Summary Judgment did Transamerica, by its attorney, object to Barnett's description of its financing relationship with Turner Construction. See, e.g., R1087-1090; R1092.

No evidence has been presented, or exists in the record, to refute the Trial Court's statements. In its discussion of this issue Transamerica cites numerous documents indicating that Turner Construction was not paying its business related bills as

they became due. This is the only support that Transamerica offers for its position that the Court lacked an adequate basis "Barnett financed the construction for its statement that activities of Turner during the period of active operation by Turner with actual cash." Whether or not Turner was paying its debts as they became due, however, has little to do with the use to which Turner was putting funds received from Barnett. Quite obviously Turner Construction could have been using the actual cash supplied by Barnett in the normal course of its business operations, as the deposition testimony indicates, while still failing to pay all of its business related bills as they became due.

In conclusion, there was abundant evidence for the Trial "Barnett financed the construction Court to conclude that activities of Turner during the period of active operation by Turner with actual cash" and that "that actual cash was used by Turner in the normal course of its business operations..." R1340 In addition, there is no evidence to suggest that this is an inaccurate representation of Barnett's financing relationship with Turner. The letter of Mr. Robert Morris, counsel for Transamerica, protesting the inclusion of the above statements in the Summary Judgment clearly shows that this issue was brought specifically to the Trial Court's attention. R1324-1327 The Trial Court's retention of these statements in its Final Order indicates that it determined that no genuine issue of fact existed.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE WRIT OF CERTIORARI FOR CONFLICT JURISDICTION WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED BY THIS COURT.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review а district court of appeal's decision that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or Fla. R. App. P. of this Court on the same question of law. In order to establish the Supreme Court's 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV). jurisdiction based upon the conflict, the decision of the district court must conflict, on its face, with a prior decision of another district court or the Supreme Court of Florida "on the same point of law so as to create an inconsistency or conflict Kincaid v. World Insurance Company, 157 among the precedents." So.2d 517 (Fla. 1963) The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case does not present such a conflict. Indeed, even the dissenting opinion relied on extensively by the Petitioner includes a statement that "...no Florida post-U.C.C. court decisions are on point". Transamerica Ins. v. Barnett Bank, 524 So. 2d at 450 (Sharpe, J., dissenting). Because the Fifth District decision concerns a different point of law, interpretation of the UCC, no conflict can arise. <u>See Kyle v.</u> Kyle, 139 So.2d, 885, 887 (Fla. 1962).

Obviously, the Fifth District has enunciated a rule of law quite different from that set forth in prior Florida decisions. The rules of law do not conflict, however, but are the result of interpreting and applying a previously non-existent statute to a

similar fact pattern. The existence of the Uniform Commercial Code was clearly the basis for the Fifth District's arrival at a different end result in the contractor/surety dispute. The District Court noted that adoption of the Code altered the surety's position since, "having the convenient and practical remedy of filing its security agreement under the U.C.C., the surety company is not entitled to disregard it and rely on the remedy of equitable subrogation to ambush a financing bank which has dutifully filed its security interest as provided by law" Transamerica, 524 So.2d at 446. Reliance upon a previously nonexistent statute to arrive at a different result is not sufficient under the express language of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030 to provide the necessary conflict. See Ellsworth v. Nash Miami Motors, Inc., 142 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1962); see also In Re. D. A. W., 193 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1967). The decision of the Fifth District Court is, in fact, one of first impression and is not reviewable by certiorari, absent some constitutional ground other than conflict. See Nash, 142 So. 2d at 734.

Based on the foregoing, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court reconsider its decision to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

<u>ISSUE V</u>

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION SHOULD BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY SINCE IT IS CONTRARY TO PRIOR CASE LAW.

Amicus Curiae, Reliance Insurance Company, United Pacific Insurance Company, and Planet Insurance Company maintain that the District Court's decision should not be applied retroactively. This issue has not been raised in prior proceedings and cannot, therefore, be considered in this Court. Furthermore, the cases cited by the Amicus Curiae in support of their position are not sufficiently analogous to the instant case to warrant departure from the general rule that a court decision will act both retroactively and prospectively.

The issue of whether the Fifth District Court of Appeal's ruling should be applied retroactively has not previously been raised, either before the Trial Court or the Court of Appeal. It is axiomatic that "...the appellate courts will not consider an issue that has been raised for the first time on appeal." P. Padovano, <u>2 Florida Appellate Practice</u>, Vol. 2 at 81 (1988) "The function of the appellate courts is to review only the <u>actual</u> decisions of the lower tribunals..." and not to decide issues that were not ruled on by the lower courts. <u>Id.</u> (emphasis in original) at 83. For this Court to address the issue of retroactive application of the lower court's rulings would be, therefore, improper.

Moreover, an appellate court is not entitled to consider issues raised, not by the parties, but by an amicus curiae. In <u>Keating v. State of Florida, ex. rel. Ausebel</u> the First District Court of Appeal acknowledged that an "...amicus is not at liberty to inject new issues in a proceeding..." 157 So.2d 568 at 569

(Fla. 1st DCA 1963). This statement of the law was later confirmed by this Court in a decision striking a brief of amicus curiae as a result of the inclusion of matters not raised by the parties. <u>Dade County v. Eastern Airlines, Inc.</u>, 212 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1968) Based on the above rulings, the issue of the retroactive application of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision should not, and cannot, be addressed by this Court. <u>See</u> <u>also Acton, II v. Ft. Lauderdale Hospital</u>, 418 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)

Under any circumstances, the District Court's ruling should be applied retroactively, as well as prospectively. Ordinarily a decision of a court, even a decision of a court of last resort which overrules a previous decision, operates retrospectively as well as prospectively. <u>Florida Forest and Park Service v.</u> <u>Strickland</u>, 18 So.2d 251, 253 (Fla. 1944) The Florida courts have recognized only a very narrow exception to this rule "...where a statute has received a given construction by a court of supreme jurisdiction and property or contract rights have been acquired under and in accordance with such construction, such right should not be destroyed by giving to a subsequent overruling decision a retrospective operation." Id. This rule of law does not apply to the instant case.

The sureties have cited no decisions by the court of supreme jurisdiction of this state which has been overruled by the decision of the Fifth District, or could be overruled by this Court. The Supreme Court of Florida has simply never been called

upon to resolve the bank/surety dispute in the context of the Uniform Commercial Code. The Amicus Curiae attempts to apply to the instant case a three part analysis promulgated by the United State Supreme Court and cited with favor by a Florida district court of appeal. <u>See International Studio Apartment Association,</u> <u>Inc. v. Lockwood,</u> 421 So.2d 1119, 1121 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) <u>citing Chevron v. Hutson</u>, 404 U.S.97, 107-07, 92 S. Ct. 349, 355-356, 30 L. Ed. 2d 296, _____ (1971) The Fourth District Court of Appeal made clear, however, that all <u>three</u> parts of the U.S. Supreme Court analysis must be met. <u>International Studio</u>, 421 So.2d at 1121. In the present case, however, the surety has clearly failed to met the third test set forth.

In order to limit a ruling's retroactive application, the court must determine that the decision will produce substantial inequitable results if applied retroactively. There is nothing inequitable, however, about retroactively applying the Code filing requirements. First, the surety's have been well aware of the lending industry's position that their right of equitable subrogation is subject to the filing requirements of the Code. See Brief of Amicus Curiae, Reliance Insurance Company, et. al., at 8 ("Over the years, the banks have relentlessly continued to attack the surety's priority to the contract funds...") In the face of this dispute, however, the sureties have refused to take the simple and inexpensive step of filing necessary to fully perfect their position, having concluded that to file might somehow be viewed as a voluntary relinquishment of their right of

equitable subrogation. Note, supra, 32 U. Pitt. L. Rev. at 585. Knowing full well the disputed nature of their position, the sureties have made a conscious decision not to incur the minimal expense necessary to absolutely protect themselves. They are not the "innocent" party whom the courts have previously sought to protect from the retroactive application of unexpected decisions, see, e.q., Florida Forest, 18 So.2d at 253, and there is nothing inequitable about requiring that they live with the results of their decision. Therefore, the Respondent requests this Court follow the general rule and that the ruling of the Fifth District Court Appeal upheld, and be held to apply both of be retrospectively and prospectively.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent, Barnett, initially requests this Court reconsider its decision to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. The Briefs of the parties and amicus curiae make abundantly clear that this is a case of first impression in Florida, and no conflict exists between the Fifth District's decision and any decision of another district court of this State or of this Court.

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